


EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 2 of 21 

 
Mr. Dolan stated that while there are some residential units nearby and with the BART 
station across the street, Site 1 is right in the middle of predominantly business, office, 
and non-residential uses with large buildings with a certain architectural style.  He 
pointed out the Shaklee site, a three-story office building complex with its parking lot on 
the northern side and a vacant piece on the south side which is immediately adjacent to 
and could serve as a possible extension of the park which has been designed into the 
Site 2 project. He noted the site’s proximity to the Iron Horse Trail and the many 
pedestrian opportunities that it will provide. 
 
Mr. Dolan then presented some views of the site to demonstrate the character of the 
project and set the tone for the architectural discussion.  He noted that while this is a 
residential project, there are some non-residential architecture across the street in 
almost every direction, with a lot of glass and more contemporary-looking architecture, a 
lot of concrete panel, some stucco, and a very different look than what would be added 
into a residential neighborhood.  He stated that the applicant has tried to incorporate 
this context into the projects, and this is why they might not look as residentially-
oriented as can typically be seen in some of the residential projects in town. 
 
Mr. Dolan stated that the applicant was able to meet the minimum density for Site 1 in 
providing 251 units.  He noted that there are two mixed-use buildings that contain two 
retail spaces totaling 5,700 square feet, meeting the retail commercial space 
requirement of the Standards, and provide the required live/work frontages along 
Owens Drive.  He added that the main corner includes an open space that addresses 
the public, which would then be lined with the retail behind it.  
 
Mr. Dolan then presented the layout of the property along Willow Road and Owens 
Drive, noting that the site is ringed with the larger buildings that have a more active 
frontage facing those streets, and with the interior of the project showing a more 
traditional residential project.  He stated that one thing raised in the staff report is that 
the Standards and Guidelines require that there be a hierarchy of streets within these 
three projects; however, while the project is consistent with these Standards and 
Guidelines in many ways, this is possibly the most significant area where, in one 
fundamental way, it is inconsistent with those Guidelines in that it does not provide 
necessarily a true internal street, where inside the project they would look like a street in 
a residential neighborhood with lanes of traffic, parking, a landscape strip, a sidewalk, 
and more landscaping.  He indicated that this is something staff had a long dialogue 
with the applicant about from the time the Standards and Guidelines were approved and 
as these projects were developed.  He added that this became most difficult with the 
development type the applicant is proposing at 30 units per acre.  He pointed out that it 
is difficult to park a project like this that takes up a lot of space, and with the 
requirements for open space, it would need to go to a higher density before being able 
to provide this level of open space and achieve that internal circulation.  He indicated 
that there are ways to create at least one internal street that connects the two entrances 
off of Willow Road and off of Owens Drive, but it would do so at the expense of a fairly 
significant amount of open space throughout.  He added that the project architect, 
Mr. Irwin Yao, will explain this trade-off, which is a key issue that the Commission 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 3 of 21 

should try and give direction on, or at least think about between now and when the 
application returns to the Commission as a formal application. 
 
Mr. Dolan noted that from certain angles, the site plan shows that the first floor on many 
buildings has lots of garage doors.  He stated that this is the inevitable result of this kind 
of design at this particular density.  He indicated that the applicant has done a good job 
of making sure that the first floor elevations with rows of garage doors have some 
design elements to make them more attractive, and it helps somewhat that the three- 
and four-story buildings have some architectural interest above the first floor.  He added 
that the applicants have also done a good job of making sure the buildings are pointed 
in a direction which is not as visible as some of the others, the most important of which 
are the elevations that face Owens Drive and Willow Road, which do not contain any 
garage doors.  
 
Mr. Dolan then presented some elevations showing a variation of material from the first 
floor, with a HardiePlank product on some of the ends which accent and offset the rest 
of the building skin.  He indicated that there is a variety of colors and a fair amount of 
movement architecturally throughout the elevation; however, this is not something the 
human eye can actually see as there is no actual place where one can stand and see 
how it actually lays out in real life; one can only see a portion, depending on where one 
stands.  He noted that in some of the areas where this design has evolved in the newer 
drawings is a cap feature which highlights the top of the project.  He added that there is 
an emphasis on a more detailed design along the first floor accentuating the retail and 
live/work portion of the project and distinguishing it from the residential on the upper 
floors.  He also presented an elevation along the top that shows the back of the large 
building facing Owens Drive, which again is not a view in real life but one that shows the 
level of detail provided on that particular building.  He added that the green rectangles 
on the bottom serve as a graphic illustration of plantings on a trellis. 
 
Mr. Dolan presented a ground level floor plan of the retail buildings on Willow Road and 
Owens Drive, recalling to the Commission that there was extensive discussion about 
the depth of the retail space during the development of the Design Guidelines.  He 
noted that the issue came up, when the live/work space was presented, that the whole 
idea should be designed so it is convertible to retail.  He stated that staff had landed on 
a minimum retail space of 40 feet, and when the original designs came in, they actually 
showed a depth on the live/work of only 20 feet, which staff indicated does not meet the 
guidelines and will not be able to convert to retail if they do not provide a depth most 
conducive to retail.  He added that the applicants then increased the depth to within 
30 feet, with some measurement at 29 feet and others at 33 feet.  He noted that this is 
an improvement, but not quite there; therefore, a decision will have to be made on 
whether this is going to be deep enough to attract retail and get that transition over time.  
He indicated that this would not matter if the intent is to stay residential; however, the 
deeper they are, the less attractive the back end becomes for residential because there 
are no windows back there, and all of the light will be coming from the front.  By way of 
comparison, Mr. Dolan stated that almost all new retail buildings the City has been 
looking at, for example, the Safeway development, have a minimum of 50 feet.  He 
noted that Tully’s is over 50 feet, not in the space seen and experienced as part of 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 4 of 21 

shop, which is only about 30 feet, but including the bathrooms and some storage at the 
back.  He added that this does not mean there are some retail uses that could not 
survive with 30 feet; this just is not the ideal dimension. 
 
Mr. Dolan then presented more elevations showing the end building and noted that the 
design on the end of a building will not have as much detail as some on the street 
fronting them.  He stated that in some cases this is acceptable because they will simply 
not be seen as much, particularly when the buildings are close together. He noted that 
the side of building on the corner has a fair amount of detail, with the live/work treatment 
and special design on the corner actually adding a lot of interest.  He then presented 
more internal architectural elevations and detail on the revised live/work dimensions and 
depth of 29 and 33 feet, how the parking works on the buildings with individual garages 
wrapped around, and how much of the first floor it actually takes up.  He then showed 
the cap treatment provided on the tower elements which he feels is effective and adds a 
little bit of ‘pop’ to the top of the building, and which is the minimum that should be done.  
He added that the applicant has also done some enhancements to the design on the 
first-floor level, and the revised drawings accentuate the difference between the 
commercial first floor and the residential above. 
 
Mr. Dolan then presented the proposed landscaping plan, stating that there is a lot of 
landscaping in the open space, along the garage doors, and around the perimeter of the 
building, particularly along the trail that will run along the site on the right hand side 
leading from Site 2 all the way up to Owens Drive.  He noted that there is also nice 
landscaping at the entrance and that a much more detailed landscape plan will be 
developed as the project moves forward.  He also presented the design of the private 
open space collected in the middle, a pool, a leasing office, a recreation building, and a 
tot lot.  
 
Mr. Dolan stated that as suggested in the staff report, the issues have been narrowed 
down to about five, the most fundamental being whether the Planning Commission 
would support exceptions to the Hacienda TOD Standards and Guidelines if the project 
were to move forward as proposed, one key issue being an exception for the lack of 
internal streets and to the depth of live/work spaces.  He noted that at the time of the 
writing of the staff report, one key issue staff had spent a lot of time talking about was 
the height of the live/work and retail, which was not quite high enough with the plan 
submitted; however, the applicant has worked through it and staff feels this will no 
longer be an issue and has removed it from the presentation. 
 
Mr. Dolan stated that the Commission will also need to determine whether the building 
designs are appropriate in this particular context adjacent to large office buildings.  He 
indicated that he anticipates the question of whether this has the “Pleasanton Look” and 
that there can be a dialogue on that.  He stated that he thinks the context of this 
particular physical setting, the level that is normally looked at in a residential project is 
not necessarily right in this context.  He further noted that there has been some reaction 
to the colors chosen, and he thinks the applicants are willing to discuss this as well as 
the materials.  He added that there is also the question of whether the positioning of the 
buildings is acceptable and whether there is anything missing from the proposal that the 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 5 of 21 

Commission feels it will need to make a decision on when the project comes back as a 
formal application. 
 
Commissioner Blank requested Mr. Dolan, as he shows the perspectives, to identify 
from where they are taken. 
 
Mr. Dolan then proceeded to describe Site 2, stating that this project has very much the 
same context as Site 1, with the exception that there are existing residential uses to the 
southeast.  He showed a photo, looking at the corner of Gibraltar and Hacienda Drives, 
where the proposed design reflects that particular setting, where the buildings along 
Hacienda and Gibraltar Drives that are across the street from the residential are lower 
and have more of a residential feel to them to reflect that relationship.  He indicated that 
on this particular project, the original proposal came in with exaggerated tops on the 
corner elements, but with only one per building, denoting the area of the building where 
the entrances are and emphasizing one part of the building.  He stated that he will 
continue the dialogue with the applicant about whether or not there should be a top 
feature on areas that do not have this major dramatic top feature.  
 
Mr. Dolan then presented the layout and site plan for Site 2, stating that like Site 1, it 
does not have the internal streets.  He noted that the main project entry off of Gibraltar 
Drive is the only place in this layout where there could be the condition of actually 
having lanes of traffic, a landscaping strip with trees in it, a sidewalk, and more 
landscaping; the rest is an alley condition.  He indicated that as in Site 1, the more 
active uses face the street so that when driving by, one sees the most attractive 
elevations of the project addressing the community, which is a positive.  He added that 
some of the garage-door-ladened elevations are less visible, inside the project, and not 
exposed to the rest of the community.  He noted that this is the type of development that 
occurs at this particular density, as everything cannot be surfaced-parked, and because 
there are no big garages, parking must be tucked underneath the units. 
 
Mr. Dolan indicated that there is also a nice internal recreation component centrally 
located with a pool, leasing area, recreational facility, and some open space. He noted 
that as required that one of the two projects include a park, a .55-acre of parkland, 
slightly larger than Veterans Plaza on Peters Avenue down the street from City Hall, in 
include in this project at a location that creates a very good opportunity to further 
develop the adjacent Shaklee piece and expand the park quite a bit.  He added that it is 
nicely located along one of the trails that would run up the western border of this 
property, connecting Gibraltar Drive through to Site 1 and ultimately to Owens Drive and 
the BART station. 
 
Mr. Dolan then presented a slide showing the live/work on the corner of Gibraltar and 
Hacienda Drives.  He noted there was a requirement in the Guidelines that 50 percent 
of that frontage should be live/work units, and since what is being proposed is 
somewhat less than that, the City will have to decide whether that amount of live/work at 
this particular location is adequate even though it does not meet the letter of the 
Guidelines. 
 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 6 of 21 

Mr. Dolan then displayed several photos, including a lower building across from the 
residential which is no more than three stories and with a more residential feel; a park; 
some simple internal elevations which may not require additional details because it is 
quite close to the building next door and with the addition of landscaping along the first 
floor and a top element; other internal architectural elevations and perspectives; the 
ends of the buildings on Hacienda Drive across from the residential; and landscaping.  
He indicated that there is a lot of land dedicated to trail connection on this project, 
including a ten-foot wide trail dedication along both sides.  He noted that the idea for the 
trail adjoining Kaiser is for the City to work with Kaiser to expand the width and put in a 
much more significant trail.  He added that this project has the same issue with the 
live/work depth. 
 
Mr. Dolan stated that questions for this particular site would be similar to those of Site 1:  
exceptions on the internal streets; level of exception, if any, for the depth of the 
live/work spaces; appropriateness of the overall design for this particular location; colors 
and materials; locations of buildings; and the size of the small park.  He noted that the 
park was a last-minute addition to the Guidelines, and no size was required or specific 
reference given other than that one of the two projects would have to contain a park. 
 
Commissioner Pentin inquired if the park element occurred at the Planning Commission 
or Council level. 
 
Mr. Dolan replied that it happened at the Council level. 
 
Chair Narum inquired if the park area is .55 or 1.55 acres. 
 
Mr. Dolan replied that it is .55 acre.   
 
Commissioner Pentin commented that there was no stipulation of size. 
 
Mr. Dolan confirmed there was none; only what is a practical, usable site.  He noted that 
the applicant had inquired how big it has to be, and staff had indicated that the smallest 
workable park in the City is the Veterans Plaza on Peters, which provides a nice little 
park. 
 
Mr. Dolan indicated that this ends his presentation but that staff has a lot of other 
graphics which he could display if the Commission so desires. 
 
Referring to the one entryway on the Site 2 project [Mr. Dolan clarified that there were 
two:  the main project entrance on Gibraltar Drive and another on Hacienda Drive], 
Commissioner Olson inquired if there were security gates on those entryways. 
 
Mr. Dolan replied that none were proposed at this time. 
 
Commission Olson stated that he was wondering if there should be, and the reason is 
what would prevent people who do not particularly belong there from driving into the 
development, all the way to the back and causing problems. 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 7 of 21 

 
Mr. Dolan replied that staff would prefer not to have the security gates.  He stated that 
this was one of the ideas of trying to provide an internal street style, where the streets 
would be like any City street even though it would be private.  He indicated that there 
are obviously security concerns with projects like this, but the design gets somewhat 
tricky as it is fairly tight, and there would need to be a turnaround for people who pull in 
and then cannot go forward.  He noted that the design right now would not 
accommodate that. 
 
Following up Commissioner Olson’s question, Commissioner Blank inquired if the Police 
Department had reviewed this design and weighed in on its “police-ability.”  He noted 
that these are all private and inquired if there would be any patrolling taking place and if 
they have been evaluated from that perspective. 
 
Mr. Dolan replied that the projects have gone through the routing process and have 
been shared with the different City Departments process.  He added that staff has yet to 
prepare the staff report and the conditions of approval, so the dialogue is not over and 
there is much more discussion.  He noted that he does not think the Police Department 
would see this as any special problem area and would probably look at it as a typical 
30-unit-per-acre apartment complex, similar to the Archstone Apartments where anyone 
can drive in there anytime. 
 
Commissioner Blank commented that he was not a big fan of gates but shared 
Commissioner Olson’s concerns, especially with Site 1 because of the angularity that 
those streets created. 
 
Commissioner Olson stated that he was not in favor of internal roads; that he likes the 
design and thinks it works better.  He indicated that he was concerned about and raised 
the issue of security because the development is directly across from BART. 
 
Commissioner O’Connor noted that there is a variation on the colors in the staff report 
and the actual exhibits.  He inquired if the true color scheme was the exhibits provided 
by staff or the depictions provided by the applicant. 
 
Mr. Dolan replied that the first big packet the Commission received, which included the 
staff report and attached materials from the applicant, was the application, and these 
did not have any variation in colors.  He noted that staff had asked the applicant to 
explore other colors, and some new graphics were submitted; any color differences in 
those graphics are the result of the exploration of variation.  He added that it would be 
useful for the Commission to share with the applicant and staff any particular colors it 
does not like or any tones and directions it wants the applicant to explore. 
 
Commissioner Blank pointed out that these are printouts from a computer, which are 
only approximations and premature until the actual color samples are submitted and are 
seen in the right kind of lighting.  
 
Commissioner O’Connor concurred. 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 8 of 21 

 
THE PUBLIC HEARING WAS OPENED. 
 
John Wayland, BRE, Applicant, stated that they are excited about presenting these 
projects and explained that their architect, Irwin Yau of TC Architects (TCA), would 
spend time reviewing the project elevations.  He indicated that before getting into the 
project, he would like to refresh the Commission’s memory about BRE, a publicly-traded 
company with a business objective to own multi-family real estate on a long-term basis.  
He noted that BRE has assets that it has owned for more than 40 years, and 
development is the vehicle it uses for growth in the company.  He explained that BRE is 
different from a merchant builder who typically would sell an asset after a year; it is, 
instead interested in ensuring that its assets perform and look as good five years down 
the road as it did in year one.  He added that these projects represent about 
$160 million in investment and that BRE has a vested interest in them as does the City, 
in making sure they look good and create a livable environment for the residents. 
 
Mr. Wayland stated that the BRE project staff have diligently worked with City staff to 
comply with the Design Guidelines, and he thinks they are 95 percent there.  He noted 
that they have the trail and park dedication, the open space requirements have been 
met, there are more retail and live/work than was originally anticipated, and they have 
tried to make efforts to accomplish all the goals.  He indicated that they are asking for 
some exceptions, which they have thoroughly vetted out with staff and internally, and 
that these exceptions are based on what they believe would make the project 
successful and a better environment for the residents who ultimately are writing the rent 
checks.  He noted that they have always defaulted in that direction in cases where they 
really thought it was a toss-up. 
 
Mr. Wayland stated that they look forward to the Commission’s feedback.  He indicated 
that Bob Linder, also from BRE, is present and may also be answering some questions. 
He then turned over the floor to Irwin Yau, Project Architect. 
 
Due to equipment failure, Chair Narum called for a break at 8:10 p.m. and resumed the 
meeting at 8:20 p.m. 
 
Mr. Yau thanked Mr. Dolan for his thorough presentation and indicated that he would go 
through some slides really quickly and touch on different aspects that were not brought 
up.  He stated that the two sites are within the Hacienda Business Park district, and, 
therefore, the project is designed accordingly in the context of a business park, with 
Site 2 being a bit more sensitive to the residential areas located along its south side.  
He then presented an aerial photograph of the area showing what the community would 
look like once all the elements are built out. 
 
Mr. Yau presented a photo of Site 1 against the BART station and explained that the 
way it was laid out was to try and create more of an urban environment with a higher 
density and urban buildings flanking the plaza space.  He indicated that this is where 
taller four-story buildings exist with retail inside, and the rest of the building is more of a 
campus style behind that, which serves as its backdrop.  He stated that there are 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 9 of 21 

5,000 square feet of retail along the corner, a plaza space about the size of half a 
football field, live/work along all of Owens Drive, angled parking along the front, a 
landscape median that will protect users from backup into that space, and street 
sections which comply with the TOD Guidelines.  He indicated that they are trying to 
create a community that is centralized amongst a central open space that also has a 
connection with a plaza space. 
 
Mr. Yau stated that, as Mr. Dolan mentioned, they explored putting in the internal 
streets and looking at how it would affect the project itself.  He presented two different 
plans:  the first proposal includes the plaza on the corner and one large main open 
space with green sails that wrap around the whole space, but without internal streets; 
and the second, following the TOD Guidelines, would create a street that would run 
through, with parallel parking because some of the entrances and garages have a flip, 
and the amount of open space and central space would be compromised.  He indicated 
that from the technical standpoint, in terms of the difference in actual space between the 
two, the site plan following the TOD Guidelines would lose about 15,000 square feet of 
open space.  He noted that what they want to do is to create a pedestrian- and 
community-friendly project which they feel can still be created without the open space. 
 
Chair Narum inquired if the proposed plan and the TOD Guidelines plan impact the 
number of parking spaces. 
 
Mr. Yau replied that the number of parking spaces is roughly the same, with a little less 
parking with the TOD Guidelines project because parallel parking is not as efficient as 
head-in parking.  
 
Chair Narum requested confirmation that, basically, with the inclusion of internal streets, 
the project would lose some open space and a few parking spaces. 
 
Mr. Yau confirmed that was correct.  He indicated that what they want to do is analyze 
what they propose while still creating a site plan with good pedestrian activity and 
access.  He pointed out the main pedestrian circulation throughout the site and noted 
that there is circulation along the streets, which is part of the TOD Guidelines, with the 
main open space in the middle, circulation around it and connection to the corner, as 
well as a pedestrian landscaped sidewalk edges around the whole site.  He added that 
with this plan, any resident in the property would be able to access the major open 
spaces, the corner, and the BART station without having to walk through an alley.  He 
explained that this was important to them so that even though they did not have the 
street, they had a lot of landscaped sidewalk spaces. 
 
Mr. Yau then presented some pictures showing a blow-up of sections of each of the 
buildings, including the four-story building along Owens Drive; live/work units where 
changes were made to increase the height of that space to 15 feet and superimposed to 
be 30 feet deep; the section of the street provided is according to the TOD Guidelines; 
and a three-story garden product which is also a TOD.  He explained that the way the 
building works is that the stair tower sticks out more, from where the minimum 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 10 of 21 

dimension is being shown; and there is actually a deeper setback than what is required 
for the TOD Guidelines where the units are along the ground level that faces the street. 
 
Mr. Yau then displayed a corner rendering of the project and pointed out Owens Drive 
and Willow Road; a plaza space and the retail space on both sides of that plaza; the 
internal courtyard; an amenity space with leasing, club room, fitness, pool and spa area; 
and another rendering looking down the main entry.  He then presented the four-story 
building along Owens Drive, the plaza space, the retail on the corner which complies 
with the Guidelines, and live/work spaces for which they are asking for an exception 
with respect to their depth.  He indicated that the height is already provided to be higher 
than what was first proposed and now meet the Guidelines.  He stated that in doing this, 
they were able to distinguish, and on ground level, create a base level for retail and 
live/work and volume space for the storefront, with a height of about four feet.  He 
added that there are awnings on the ground level with live/work and retail, and the 
ground level can be defined without necessarily creating a deliberate base.  He noted 
that what they want to do with a mixed-use building is have layers of information, 
something integrated that the materials used for the live/work are also in the tower so it 
does not look like they built a retail space and put housing on top of it, but an 
intentionally created mixed-use building.  He then presented a photo showing the added 
tops along the building and elements along the edge; entries into the building ground 
level with stairs along one side and stairs and elevator on the other side; the front of the 
building exterior, emphasizing the entries into the lobbies by using taller elements and 
changing the materials to draw attention to either being retail or entrance into the 
building itself. 
 
Mr. Yau then showed the elevations of the buildings behind, the three-story garden, 
which do not have an elevator but are instead served with stairs along the front and the 
back of the building.  He explained that when they do a setback on the street they have 
units along the ground level with more landscape space in front, and within the elevation 
itself, they are using enhanced materials to represent the stair tower and creating a 
different color to emphasize building entrances. 
 
Commissioner Pentin referred to the buildings without elevators and inquired whether 
they were ADA-accessible.  He further inquired if the idea is a percentage requirement 
in the building. 
 
Mr. Yau replied that the ground level units are ADA-accessible and explained that if an 
elevator is not provided for the building, the units above the first level are not required to 
be ADA-accessible.  He noted that the building has been designed accordingly.  He 
added that because the four-story building is an elevator-served building, all units are 
ADA-accessible. 
 
Mr. Yau then presented a slide of the building along Owens Drive which includes four 
live/work units along the ground level.  He indicated that they raised the building to have 
a 12-foot clearance on the ground level. 
 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 11 of 21 

With respect to Site 2, Mr. Yau stated that they took a different approach in terms of 
what they are putting along the street.  He explained that where Site 1 is a little bit more 
urban, and denser buildings along the street up against BART seem appropriate, Site 2 
has a two-story residential context, they have put three-story buildings along the edge 
and the higher density buildings towards the Kaiser campus and Shaklee site at the 
back, with a park and the central open space in the middle of the project.  He indicated 
that they also explored internal streets on this site, and noted that with the central 
courtyard in the middle, internal streets would create a small space that then becomes 
an island and is not usable open space anymore.  He stated that without the internal 
streets, they still accomplish what they want to do in terms of a walkable community, 
with the existence of pedestrian access, the access all around the central open space, 
and the access to the park.  He noted that the difference between their proposal versus 
the TOD internal street scheme is about 10,000 square feet of additional open space.  
 
Mr. Yau stated that with regard to the issue of security mentioned earlier by 
Commissioner Olson, there will be pedestrian gates with key pads.  He indicated that 
they do not anticipate having vehicular gates through the project and noted that 
management is on-site and will manage security in the property.  He added that, all 
parking along the back will be well lit throughout the evening. 
 
Mr. Yau stated that there is access to the trail system on one edge of the park and 
dedication of the trail along three sides of the site.  He then presented a blown-up 
section along Gibraltar Drive which shows the use of one of the examples of the 
Guidelines with a 22-foot pedestrian setback, angled parking, a travel lane, and a 
non-raised median along the center.  He added that Hacienda Drive has a 25-foot 
pedestrian setback. 
 
Mr. Yau then presented pictures of the park area and stated that there was a concern 
about whether or not the garage end of one building would be visible along Gibraltar 
Drive.  He indicated that they are developing a very good landscape scheme for this 
area as well as for the area along the east side of the park to render them very well 
landscape-protected so that no garages will be seen from the park or eastbound on 
Gibraltar Drive. 
 
Commissioner Pearce inquired if the .55 acre for the public park does not include the 
two tot lots. 
 
Mr. Yau replied that the tot lots will be part of the public park. 
 
Mr. Yau then presented the pool courtyard with similar amenities as on Site 1 but 
somewhat smaller, including a leasing office, a club room, a fitness room, a pool, and 
the open space that opens out and connects to the park.  He then displayed the 
four-story buildings toward the back of the site, emphasizing the entries along the front 
portion of the building, similar to the building along Owens Drive but a little shorter, with 
caps along the top and accent materials to accent entry into the building itself. 
 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 12 of 21 

Mr. Yau concluded his presentation by showing the three-story garden buildings, with 
the cap along the corner for accent due to its location along Hacienda Drive, the 
entrance into the stair tower which is a different material and color than the red which 
has been called out, and the live/work with the plaza on the corner of Gibraltar and 
Hacienda Drives. 
 
Commissioner Pentin asked Mr. Yau if they are still considering additional caps like 
those on the extended corners in the entrances and the roofline differences mentioned 
by Mr. Dolan or if they have come up with any other concepts. 
 
Mr. Yau replied that they have not explored any other concepts.  He explained that the 
reason for these caps is to prioritize and emphasize a portion of the building.  He stated 
that right now, they are along the corner, and if they are provided throughout the whole 
building, that corner would be de-emphasized and de-prioritized.  He indicated that 
having the caps there makes it asymmetrical which adds more interest to it.  He added 
that they focused quite a bit on what is happening on Hacienda Drive, having some of 
the red elements occurring on the different floors to create a playful rhythm, and having 
the caps happen every once in a while adds to this instead of being extremely repetitive 
throughout the whole project.  
 
Bob Linder, BRE, stated that he has worked quite a bit with Mr. Dolan and Ms. Amos 
over the last several weeks and was available to answer any questions the Commission 
may have on BRE and on the project. 
 
THE PUBLIC HEARING WAS CLOSED. 
 
Chair Narum indicated that the Commission would consider the Discussion Points listed 
on the staff report separately for each of the two sites. 
 
Mr. Dolan stated that staff would like to have some feedback on the five items for each 
site.  He added that if the Commission has any strong feelings on any other issues 
raised in the staff report, staff would like to hear it now as opposed to later down the 
road. 
 
Site 1 Discussion Items: 
 
A. Would the Planning Commission support exceptions (items 1 through 13 

noted in the staff report) to the Hacienda TOD Standards and Guidelines if the 
project were to move forward as proposed? 

 
Chair Narum indicated that these exceptions are specific to the lack of internal streets 
and the depth of the live/work spaces. 
 
Commissioner Pentin stated that he is fine with the discussion about the alleys because 
it opens up more open space; however, for the entrances, he inquired what the impact 
on the project would be to have the entrances not look like alleys but rather, like streets, 
and then become alleys.  With respect to the exception of the depth of live/work spaces, 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 13 of 21 

he stated that he does not have the minutes from the Planning Commission meeting, 
but recalls that the Commission was talking about live/live space and then live/work 
space because of the uncertainly of its viability.  He noted that it now appears like there 
is a real live/work-only type of environment and that would be a concern for the depth.  
He indicated, however, that he is not concerned about the proposed 30-foot depth for 
the live/work. 
 
Commissioner Olson stated that he supported the exception for the lack of internal 
streets and for the 30-foot depth. 
 
Commissioner O’Connor agreed with both exceptions, indicating that he has no problem 
with the internal streets being as proposed, but as mentioned by Commissioner Pentin, 
he would like to see the two main entryways be more accentuated, maybe made a little 
bit larger, so people know they are the entryways. 
 
Commissioner Blank indicated that he has no problem with both exceptions as depicted. 
 
Commissioner Pearce stated that she is unable to support the live/work depth until she 
understands it better and inquired why it is proposed to be 30 feet instead of 40 feet.  
She further inquired if the reason is the lack of windows in the rear of the units. 
 
Mr. Yau replied that a 40-foot depth for a residential unit is extremely deep and creates 
a portion at the back of the residential unit to be not as livable; hence, as it stands right 
now, it would not be an ideal residential unit with a 40-foot depth.  He added that this 
would cause the loss of additional parking within the building itself.  He noted that as the 
units get deeper, it takes away some of the advantage of the building, and they have 
found that people like to park in the building and go up the elevator to their units; the 
proposed depth is the balance they found between the two. 
 
Commissioner Pearce indicated that she was fine with the 30-foot depth.  She added 
that having worked on the Hacienda Task Force, the lack of internal streets seems to be 
the difference between discussing this in theory and seeing it in practical application.  
She stated that she loves the idea of internal streets, but practically, the proposal works 
better for this site.  
 
Chair Narum stated that she would also agree and given a preference, she would much 
rather have the additional open space than the alleys.  She also agreed with 
Commissioner O’Connor’s and Commission Pentin’s comments about ‘beefing up’ the 
main entry and making it look a little more like a street. 
 
Mr. Yau stated that they had a meeting with Planning staff and the Traffic Engineering 
Division last week and indicated that for Site 1, the width of the street will be 26 feet and 
there is a 17-foot setback from the street to the building for the main entryway as well as 
for the entryway off of Owens Drive.  He added that a driveway will come in, with 
landscaping on both sides, a sidewalk, and again some landscaping before getting to 
the building. 
 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 14 of 21 

B. Are the building designs appropriate in their physical context adjacent to large 
office buildings? 

 
Commissioner Blank stated that he is fine with the way the buildings are designed at 
this stage.  He noted that while he thinks the “Pleasanton Look” is an important concept 
and one that the City has spent a lot of time creating, it did not need to be here.  He 
indicated that he was struck when he looked at the plans and noted that this is 
something different, intended to be a TOD, an environment, a community; not that it 
stands apart from the City as it is still part of the City, but intended to be different.  He 
presented the analogy of Walt Disney World, which has hotels with themes in them, and 
when he first saw this, what went through his mind was that this is called contemporary 
where the monorail goes through this V-shaped building that has a very modern 
thematic thing, and one knows what one is getting into.  He noted that it is still Walt 
Disney World, but a different part of Walt Disney World.  He added that they tell you 
when you check in that it is not going to be a quiet, sedate, gentrified environment, but a 
place that is noisy with lots of action and things going on.  He stated that to him, it is the 
same kind of differentiation between the “Pleasanton Look” and of what is being created 
here, and it does not need to have the “Pleasanton Look.” 
 
Commissioner Olson stated that he thinks Site 1 looks great.  He commented that the 
“Pleasanton Look” is eclectic. 
 
Commissioner Pentin stated that he thinks the current design as presented for the 
Hacienda Business Park looks great with the office buildings. 
 
Commissioner O’Connor stated that he is fine with Site 1 but noted that he wished it had 
more of the look that Site 2 has. 
 
Commissioner Pearce echoed most of Commissioner Blank’s comments and agrees 
that the “Pleasanton Look” is inapplicable here.  She stated that she likes the more 
industrial look because it is near BART and office buildings; it has a good feel and the 
feel of the TOD in an urban setting she was really hoping for. 
 
Chair Narum stated that she agreed with everything that has been said.  She indicated 
that it does not look like “Pleasanton” but she does not think it is supposed to look like 
what has been called “Pleasanton.”  She added that it fits well within the surrounding 
buildings. 
 
C. Are the proposed building colors and materials acceptable? 
 
Commissioner O’Connor stated that he is not big on blue in buildings.  He noted that 
some of the depictions look almost like charcoal and blue in others.  He indicated that 
he had no problem with the off-white or the white and gold, but believed that the 
Commission had always looked more for earth tones. 
 
Commissioner Blank stated that he thinks the challenge here is that he does not have 
enough information to judge these colors, noting that these are computer colors and are 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 15 of 21 

not the real colors.  He added that they are not ostentatiously bad, that they are sort of 
in the ballpark, but he hopes that when there will be more definition when the 
application comes back and the visuals will show what the colors really look like. 
 
Commissioner Pentin indicated that he would not be opposed to the blue color. 
 
Mr. Yau confirmed that the colors are not exact and that in the actual submittal, there 
will be a color board and true color chips.  He noted, however, that the colors are not far 
off and are meant to be dark blue and gray/blue.  He indicated that Site 1 was 
intentionally done a little cooler than the office buildings, and Site 2 intentionally a bit 
warmer considering its context.  He added that they believe both sites complement each 
other with shared colors while not being exactly the same, and they did not want to 
design two projects with exactly the same colors. 
 
Commissioner Blank requested that larger color chip samples be provided when the 
project comes back for the actual formal application. 
 
Mr. Yau stated that the size of the color samples will be 8” x 10”. 
 
Commissioner Pearce noted that in one of the pictures, the yellow color is mustard and 
on the other, it is neon green.  She inquired which one would be closer to the actual 
color. 
 
Mr. Yau replied that said the color is more yellow and not as gold as shown, but 
definitely not green. 
 
Chair Narum inquired how the charcoal or dark blue would hold up with the weather in 
terms of exposure to the sun and fading. 
 
Mr. Yau replied that it is a Hardie panel that has an integral color with a warranty on it 
and not something that is just painted on.  He added that it is cementitious panel, not 
wood, and should hold up very well. 
 
Chair Narum inquired if they have had any experience with it. 
 
Mr. Yau replied that it is a pretty common material but not something that is out there in 
terms of something that has been used quite a bit.  He noted that they have used it 
satisfactorily in other projects in the past. 
 
Commissioner O’Connor inquired if it is the same material that Hardie uses in its roofing 
material such as Hardie shakes and Hardie shale. 
 
Mr. Yao replied that he did not believe so.  He indicated that this is a Hardie board, 
made by the same company but of a different material.  He added that they are looking 
at various other companies as well, but it would be essentially a similar type of 
cementitious panel and not a wood panel which would wear and look differently. 
 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 16 of 21 

Commissioner Olson stated that his first reaction to the colors was that they look great 
and are different from what he sees when he looks across the other side of the freeway.  
He added that he likes the colors and would hope they would continue. 
 
Chair Narum agreed with Commissioner Olson’s comments. 
 
D. Is the positioning of the buildings acceptable?  
 
Commissioner Pentin stated that he likes the corner of Willow Road and Owens Drive 
as well as the opening that follows through to the retail.  He indicated that he also likes 
the positioning and how the garages are not exposed to the two streets.  
 
Commissioners Blank and Olson both agreed with Commissioner Pentin’s comments. 
 
Commissioner O’Connor stated that he likes the corner and the way it is set up.  He 
noted that it attracts people and hopefully will keep the retail viable. 
 
Chair Narum agreed. 
 
E. Is the size of the public park on Site 2 acceptable (.55-acres)? 
 
This question refers to Site 2. 
 
F. What information would the Planning Commission wish to see to assist its 

decision on the proposals?  
 
Mr. Dolan explained that this refers to anything the Commission has not seen tonight 
other than detail that it feels it will need to make its decision down the road. 
 
Commissioner Blank stated that he would like to see the detailed visuals to the greatest 
extent possible and additional detail work on the entryways.  He noted that it would be 
handy to also have cross references between the slide pictures and the packet pictures 
as the Commissioners may have made notes on the packet pictures, and they would be 
able to identify exactly what is being shown during the presentation with those in their 
packets.  He added that he would like something more than simple routing to the 
Pleasanton Police Department, such as a statement indicating that somebody really did 
look at them. 
 
Mr. Dolan clarified that the application has gone through the level of dialogue where it is 
routed to the different Departments and then discussed in detail at the Staff Review 
Board meeting.  He added that staff will specifically meet with the Police Department. 
 
Commissioner Blank further stated that it would be very helpful if the applicant could 
provide more viewscapes of how things will look.  He indicated that he likes the overall 
view, which looks very classy as a transit-oriented development site, and he thinks it is 
great. 
 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 17 of 21 

Commissioner Olson requested confirmation that that there will be on-site management 
and security provided. 
 
Mr. Yau confirmed that was correct. 
 
Commissioner Pentin stated that he would like to see more specific details on the 
connection to the Iron Horse Trail, whether there will be gates, whether it will be open, 
and the type of access across the parking lots to get to the trail. 
 
Commissioners O’Connor and Pearce indicated that they were good. 
 
Chair Narum stated that she would like to see a visual of the tot lot on Site 1.  She noted 
that the packet only shows the area where it is to be located; there is nothing that shows 
the details or the angle across the tot lot. 
 
Mr. Linder replied that they have not designed these space amenities yet but could 
bring back images of the types of tot lots they have built on other sites which they still 
own and manage, as well as a conceptual picture of what their typical tot lots look like.  
He added that they are open to suggestions if there is something the Commission would 
like to see in the tot lots. 
 
Chair Narum indicated that she would like to see one kind of view across the tot lot.  
She added that a picture of a typical tot lot showing what they would do would also be 
good. 
 
Mr. Linder replied that they can do both. 
 
Chair Narum asked the applicants if they had any questions or needed further 
clarification on Site 1. 
 
Mr. Linder replied that there were none at this time.  He stated that it is pretty clear and 
in line with what Mr. Dolan and staff have already requested of them. 
 
Site 2 Discussion Items: 
 
A. Would the Planning Commission support exceptions (items 1 through 13 

noted in the staff report) to the Hacienda TOD Standards and Guidelines if the 
project were to move forward as proposed? 

 
Commissioner Pentin stated that he has the same answer as on Site 1:  he would like 
see the entryway “beefed-up” and more like a street; he does not have problems with 
the alley because he does not want to lose more open space; and he is fine with the 
approximately 30-foot depth on the live/work. 
 
Commissioners Blank, Olson, and O’Connor agreed with Commissioner Pentin’s 
comments. 
 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 18 of 21 

Mr. Yau stated that the main entry on Site 2 will be off of Gibraltar Drive, which will have 
a 26-foot wide drive entry and the landscape setback required by the TOD Guidelines.  
He noted that the entry off of Hacienda Drive will not be 26 feet wide.  He added that 
when coming through the space, it will not have the landscaped setbacks along that 
edge but will have landscaping along the perimeter.  He indicated that they believe the 
entry at Hacienda Drive is meant to be a secondary entry and that the main entry is on 
Gibraltar Drive, which has a focal point with the leasing office and which they want to be 
able to celebrate with landscaping. 
 
Commissioner Pentin requested that the applicant ensure that the Commission is 
provided with visuals of what that entry really looks like when the application comes 
back. 
 
Chair Narum commented that it is a good point. 
 
B. Are the building designs appropriate in their physical context adjacent to large 

office buildings? 
 
Commissioner Pentin noted that when the building roof was discussed, Mr. Yau 
explained how the design breaks up as it moves so that it is varied rather than just one 
standard roof, which makes complete sense because it draws people to where they are 
supposed to be drawn.  Commissioner Pentin continued that inside the project, he sees 
the back of the buildings with a lot of flat tops moving across; he does not see the caps 
except for one.  He indicated that this is where he is wondering about some variance in 
that rooftop design, at the back side internal to the property, which is a lot different than 
what is out on the street.  He added that this is the element design he is still having a 
problem with. 
 
Mr. Yau replied that Site 2 is treated differently.  He explained that the four-story 
buildings do have more of a parapet roof, but they still provide quite a bit of variation.  
He pointed out the top as the main entry into the building which is being emphasized 
with the stair tower and lobby along the ground level.  He noted that the other side, 
which is the lighter blue and which ties in with the other project, is where the other tower 
and the other stair tower are located, which intentionally do not have a any cap to make 
it a little bit more asymmetrical, thereby emphasizing the one that has the elevator in it.  
He indicated that they think there is still variety in the building, although they are not 
opposed to exploring something else. 
 
Commissioner Blank requested the applicants to return with some really good visuals so 
the Commissioners can get a sense of what it really looks like from standing on the 
ground and looking up. 
 
Commissioner Pentin reiterated that he was not referring to the big caps that draw 
people to those entrances and to the retail, but rather something which breaks up the 
flat line.  He noted that while it has been pointed out that they are not all flat lines, when 
he looks at it, they all look like flat. 
 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 19 of 21 

Chair Narum noted this was of concern to her as well and that she would like to see 
some caps, not the huge ones but something similar to those on Site 1, to break up the 
flat lines a little bit.  She referred to a drawing which she noted resembles a long stretch. 
 
Mr. Yau indicated that it makes sense and that they would not be opposed to revising 
and providing this detail. 
 
Commissioners Olson and O’Connor indicated that they were fine. 
 
Commissioner Pearce noted that she discussed this concern with the applicant when 
she met with him today.  She indicated that when she was on the Hacienda Task Force, 
the Task Force had significant discussions on creating community and making sure that 
these types of developments were not self-enclosed entities but really created 
community.  She referred to the one adjacent to the residential and stated that she 
would have hoped to have seen more stoops and more places where people can 
congregate, not only outside at the corner but also inside within the complex.  She 
stated that she sees a lot of garages and not as many places that are natural gathering 
places outside people’s homes.  She noted that similar to the discussion on porches in 
a suburban community, stoops and things like that create a community in an urban 
environment.  She indicated that this is something she would have hoped to have seen 
because she drives by more dense projects in other areas and it is like a ghost town 
because there is no one around, which she finds sad. 
 
Chair Narum referred to a rendering of a building with a white section on the far left, 
which struck her as looking institutional with its institutional-sized windows.  She noted 
that it seems to have lost some detail and asked the applicant to look into it, indicating 
that she was not certain what should be done with it.  She also pointed out the long 
stretch on the back side and referred to a similar design on another building facing close 
to another building but is not as visible. 
 
C. Are the proposed building colors and materials acceptable? 
 
Commissioner Pentin stated that the warmer colors on this property are fine, especially 
because of the residential area across from the site.  He noted that they work a lot 
better for this area but would not work on Owens Drive. 
 
Commissioners Olson and Blank agreed. 
 
Commissioner Pearce and Chair Narum indicated that they would like to see large color 
samples. 
 
D. Is the positioning of the buildings acceptable?  
 
The Commission was supportive of the proposed positioning of the buildings. 
 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 20 of 21 

E. Is the size of the public park on Site 2 acceptable (.55-acres)? 
 
Commissioner Pentin stated that sometime in the future, he would like to see this park 
become a larger park, possibly with a piece of the Shaklee property.  He noted the tot 
lot area in the current design, but the other park seems plain and he is not sure if a 
sport court would be located there or what that design there would be.  He indicated that 
he would like to see something more in that area.  He added that he is fine with Site 2 
having open space and a park. 
 
Commissioner Blank indicated that he did not quite understand Commissioner Pentin’s 
comment and inquired what the last part was about. 
 
Commissioner Pentin explained that he was referring to the one corner and wanted to 
know what its use would be, whether it would be a sport court, hardscape, lawn, or 
something else.  
 
Chair Narum noted that it says it is grass. 
 
Commissioner Pentin stated that he thought it had some kind of design on it when he 
saw it. 
 
Commissioner Blank commented that he thought it was just an aerial concept. 
 
Commissioner Olson stated that it says it is an open lawn area. 
 
Commissioner Blank stated that he wished the park were larger but that it is better than 
not having any park at all.  
 
Commissioner Pearce stated that she does not want the park to be smaller; she would 
like a larger park but not at the expense of parking.  She indicated that it is what it is, 
and it would be great to have it hooked up with a piece of the Shaklee property 
someday. 
 
Chair Narum stated that the park is shown with parking up against it on one side.  She 
inquired if there is a plan or how they would separate the cars from the park. 
 
Mr. Yau displayed a photo and mentioned that this area is a little bit more programmed 
with an open grass area with some indication for some sport usage.  He noted that 
there is a bio-retention area along both sides and a tree-lined sidewalk that would act as 
a visual barrier; there is no actual physical barrier. 
 
Chair Narum inquired if the sidewalk would provide some distance between the cars 
and the actual park. 
 
Mr. Yau said yes.  He added that there is a pedestrian space where people can walk 
with no parking there and just grass beyond that. 
 



EXCERPT:  PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES, OCTOBER 17, 2011 Page 21 of 21 

Chair Narum inquired if the left side can be used by children to run around, throw a 
football, or for a pick-up soccer game. 
 
Mr. Yao confirmed that the area is for sports usage as well.  He added that it is a pretty 
large open grass area and is intended for non-regulation recreational field use. 
 
F. What information would the Planning Commission wish to see to assist its 

decision on the proposals?  
 
Commissioner Pentin stated that he has the same comments as for Site 1 with 
reference to access to the trails, egress and ingress, and crossing of parking lots.  He 
added that there are references to bike parking or lockers on both sites, and he would 
like to see what that would look like, how it would be accessed, and if it would be really 
friendly. 
 
Commissioner Pearce added that she wanted a confirmation that they conform to the 
Pleasanton Pedestrian and Bicycle Master Plan. 
 
Chair Narum asked the applicant if they had any questions or needed further 
clarifications. 
 
The applicants confirmed that they were good. 
 




